THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001494

Theodore P. Polansky,

Respondent,

v.

SC Office of Attorney General, employer,
And State Accident Fund, carrier,

Appellants.

RECEIVED

JUN 14 2017

SC Court of Appeals

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Temus C. Miles, Jr.
The McKay Firm, PA
1303 Blanding Street
Post Office Box 7212
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-7217
(803) 256-4645
Attorneys for Appellants

Statement of the Issues on Appeal

- I. **Did the Circuit Court err in failing to reverse the Commission's allowance of the updated medical reports of Dr. Avie Rainwater in the record, holding that Dr. Rainwater was "an authorized treating physician", and concluding that Dr. Rainwater's medical opinions were not pivotal or necessary to the determination of permanent physical brain damage?**
- II. **Did the Circuit Court err in failing to reverse the Commission's holding that the Respondent suffered a 'serious' and 'severe' physical brain injury thereby entitling the Respondent to life time indemnity benefits?**
- III. **Did the Circuit Court err in failing to reverse the Commission's holdings that the Appellants should have been on notice of a physical brain injury and that the Respondent's request for benefits for a permanent physical brain injury was not barred under the equitable doctrine of *laches*?**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001494

Theodore P. Polansky,.....Respondent.

v.

SC Office of Attorney General, employer,
and State Accident Fund, carrier.....Appellants.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent, Theodore Polansky, a workers' compensation claimant, suffered from two separate work related injuries in 1999 and 2000. These claims were admitted for the Respondent's back, left knee (resulting in RSD/Complex Regional Pain Syndrome), and psychological injuries. Since 2002, the Respondent has been paid weekly benefits at the maximum compensation, which ceased after payment of 500 weeks of benefits (the maximum non-lifetime award available under the S.C. Workers' Compensation scheme), pursuant to §42-9-10.

Following the granting of the 500 week award, the Respondent filed a Form 50 hearing request, seeking a lifetime award, which was ultimately heard at proceedings before the single Commissioner on March 6, 2015. This is the claim that gave rise to this current appeal. This claim was based on an incident that allegedly occurred when the Respondent was taking the

prescription drug Seroquel as part of his treatment for his admitted psychological injury. In February of 2002, the Respondent had to be hospitalized, purportedly due to a drug-drug interaction between the prescription drug Seroquel, and some other prescription medication the Respondent was taking at that time.

Among other things in dispute at the March 6, 2015 hearing were: a) Whether or not the Respondent had suffered permanent physical brain injury; b) Even if the Respondent had otherwise suffered a permanent physical brain injury, if such injury rose to the level of physical brain injury for permanent life time indemnity benefits as envisioned by the General Assembly in promulgating S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10, and related case law from the S.C. Supreme Court; c) Even if otherwise compensable, if such benefits of lifetime indemnity proceeds would be barred by the equitable doctrine of *laches*, due to the ten years' long intervening delay in requesting such benefits after the date of the alleged brain injury, resulting in material prejudice to these Appellants; and d) Certain procedural and evidentiary issues as to the admission of the reports of Dr. Avie Rainwater into evidence and the setting of the hearing on a Form 50 hearing request made approximately three years prior to the date of the March 2015 proceedings in this matter. In addition to these issues, the Respondent requested that the single Commissioner raise the compensation rate of the Respondent above the maximum compensation rate for his 2000 date of injury.

In a June 1, 2015 Order (addressing the March 6, 2015 hearing), the Respondent was awarded life time indemnity benefits under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10 subsection (C) for an alleged physical brain injury. The single Commissioner overruled any objection by the Appellants to the reports of Dr. Avie Rainwater, and as to the procedural flaw of holding the hearing on a Form 50 Hearing Request/Complaint originally filed requesting a hearing several

years prior. The single Commissioner also ruled that the Respondent had indeed suffered a physical brain injury in this matter, which entitled him to life time benefits, and which was not barred by the equitable doctrine of *laches*, nor any other reason. The hearing Commissioner denied the request for a higher compensation rate above that of the maximum compensation rate for the Respondent's date of injury.

The Appellants appealed the findings and conclusions of the single Commissioner to the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission of the Workers' Compensation Commission on multiple grounds, including, but not limited to certain evidentiary rulings and the compensation award of life time benefits, and the compensability of a permanent physical brain injury. The Respondent filed a cross appeal on the issue of whether or not the compensation rate in this matter should be raised above the maximum compensation rate for the year 2000. The Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission issued an Order on November 10, 2015 fully affirming the prior Order of the single Commissioner.

The Appellants appealed the Order of the full Commission Workers' Compensation Commission to the Circuit Court, as the date of the accident giving rise to this claim occurred prior to July 1, 2007 and previous appellate jurisdiction rules applied. (Civil Action Case No. 2015-CP-40-07380). The Appellants appeal to the Circuit Court was based upon the same grounds asserted in the Appeal to the full Commission. The Respondent also filed a cross appeal of the full Commission's ruling on the compensation rate to the Circuit Court. (Civil Action Case No. 2015-CP-40-07468). The Respondent dismissed this Appeal prior to the circuit Court ruling upon it. (See Stipulation of Dismissal filed September 22, 2016). The matter was set for a Hearing before the Honorable L. Casey Manning on May 20, 2016. At the time the matter was called, the hearing was deferred in favor of a ruling based on the briefs and the Record. (See

transcript from Hearing). The Circuit Court issued an Order on June 3, 2016 fully affirming the prior Order of the single Commissioner. (See copy of the Order of the Honorable L. Casey Manning, dated June 3, 2016). This Appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is well settled that findings of fact by the Industrial Commission are conclusive and binding upon both the court of common pleas and the Supreme Court, if there is any competent evidence reasonably tending to support them, even though there is evidence that would have supported a finding to the contrary. *Willard v. Commissioners of Public Works of City of Spartanburg*, 219 S.C. 477, 65 S.E.2d 874 (1951). In reviewing the finding of an administrative agency, neither the Court of Appeals nor the Circuit Court may substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. *Grant v. South Carolina Coastal Council*, 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E.2d 388 (1995). Furthermore, a reviewing court will not disturb findings of the Workers' Compensation Commission if its findings are supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole. *Pearson v. JPS Converter & Indus. Corp.*, 327 S.C. 393, 489 S.E.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1997). If evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, the full Commission's finding must be sustained. *Wilson v. City of Darlington*, 229 S.C. 62, 91 S.E.2d 714 (1956).

However, if the evidence is all one way, or if the findings of the Commission are based on surmise, speculation, or conjecture, the issue becomes one of law for the court and not of fact for the Commission. *Herndon v. Morgan Mills, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 201, 143 S.E.2d 376 (1965). Upon admitted or established facts the question of whether an accident is compensable is a question of law, and review thereof is not an invasion of the fact-finding field of the Commission on the part of the Court. *Jordan v. Dixie Chevrolet, Inc.*, 218 SC 73, 61 SE2d 654 (1950). A

Court may reverse or modify the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are affected by other error of law. *Etheredge v. Monsanto Co.*, 349 SC 451, 562 SE2d 679 (2002). "Although medical evidence is entitled to great respect, the Commission is not bound by the opinions of medical experts and may disregard medical evidence in favor of other competent evidence in the record." *Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7*, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct.App.2011). However, "[w]hile a finding of fact of the [C]ommission will normally be upheld, such a finding may not be based upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation, but must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it." *Edwards v. Pettit Constr. Co., Inc.*, 273 S.C. 576, 579, 257 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1979); *see also Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture*, 317 S.C. 306, 309–10, 454 S.E.2d 320, 322 (1995) (affirming reversal of Commission's decision, which was supported by no evidence in the record).

ARGUMENT

1) Did the Circuit Court err in failing to reverse the Commission's allowance of the updated medical reports of Dr. Avie Rainwater in the record, holding that Dr. Rainwater was "an authorized treating physician," and concluding that Dr. Rainwater's medical opinions were not pivotal or necessary to the determination of permanent physical brain damage?

The record of the parties and APA submissions include medical reports spanning over 15 years due to the initial date of injury in this matter (1999), and the date of the proceedings which give rise to this appeal, in March of 2015. (See Generally the APA submission No. 4 of the Claimant at pp. 20-30, of Dr. A. Rainwater from October 10, 2001 to July 24, 2014). Appellants raised objection at the hearing before Commissioner Barden as to the inclusion of the updated records of Dr. Rainwater from 2011 forward, and specifically APA p. 20-23, with updated

reports and opinions of the Respondent's condition pursuant to the medical reasoning of Dr. Rainwater.

The objection to the updated medical reports of Dr. Rainwater being allowed into the record was based on the fact that Dr. Rainwater and the Appellant Carrier in this matter are adverse litigants in a separate contested civil action related to charges in excess of \$75,000.00 for services provided by Dr. Rainwater's group. (See Defendant's Exhibit 44, a copy of certain pleadings filed between Dr. Avie Rainwater and the S.C. State Accident Fund and APA at p. 859). On this point, the single Commissioner held, and the full Commission affirmed, that, "the Defendants alleged as the basis for the objection that there was some type of conflict as to his latest report because there existed a dispute between the Defendant State Accident Fund and Dr. Rainwater over the payment for his services in other cases unrelated to this one. I specifically note from the Record not only was Dr. Rainwater involved in this case beginning in 2001 but that his evaluation and testing of which the Defendants complain was in fact conducted on March 22, 2011. Whereas the earliest pleading that was filed in that matter concerning the dispute between the Fund and Dr. Rainwater was filed on October 10, 2011. It would be patently unfair to the Claimant to disregard this authorized treating medical provider's opinion particularly where there is no evidence of any bias or prejudice or that any payments due to Dr. Rainwater were at issue in this case."

First, the Appellants refute the assertion by the Commission and the Circuit Court that Dr. Rainwater is an authorized medical provider in this matter. The use of the term "authorized treating medical provider" in the workers' compensation context indicates that the carrier selected or authorized the provider for the service at issue and tends to imply that the provider

and carrier are in agreement as to the treatment and opinions provided. This is not the case for carrier and Dr. Rainwater in the current case.

The first evaluation of the Claimant by Dr. Rainwater was in October of 2001. The only purpose for this evaluation was a referral by the treating pain management physician to Dr. Rainwater for his determination if the Respondent was, psychologically, an appropriate candidate for a spinal cord stimulator. The Appellants have no objection to this prior report. (Claimant's APA 4 at pp. 25-30). The next report was in March 2011, starting with the opening line that the Respondent is a 53 year-old male "kindly referred by his attorney..." (Claimant's APA 4 at p. 21). This sequence of evaluations does not make Dr. Rainwater an authorized treating physician in this matter, and particularly for any treatment or opinion after the spinal cord stimulator evaluation. If anything, he was a onetime evaluator for the limited purpose of determining if a spinal cord stimulator was appropriate back in 2001, and subsequently, upon referral by his own attorney in 2011, would have been considered an independent medical evaluator. Of note, he never truly really treated the Respondent.

Furthermore, Appellants contend that the objection to the updated records should have been sustained. Per the objection, and as substantiated by Exhibit 44, the Appellant Carrier in this matter, and Dr. Rainwater are adverse parties in a lawsuit relating to another matter. Appellants assert this would *per se* cause Dr. Rainwater's opinion to be tainted as to the Appellants in this matter. To presume that one person or entity would be in pitched litigation with, or considering filing legal action against, another person or entity, but would at the same time be fair and unbiased in rendering opinions directly affecting that adverse person or entity in other matters strains credulity. By counter example, Appellants contend that no Judge or Commissioner would purport to be able to rule fairly and objectively in a lawsuit between two

parties, if that Judge or Commissioner was being sued by or contemplating suing one of the parties to the action before him or her. The appearance of a conflict is so apparent in such an example that the Appellants believe it would warrant recusal. Similarly, it should have warranted in this same situation, the sustaining of the objection and exclusion of the updated records of Dr. Rainwater from the record. To simply give Dr. Rainwater's professional ethics 'the benefits of the doubt' is to alternatively give the detriment of the issues to the Appellants.

The Commission also indicated that because the date of the civil Complaint of Dr. Rainwater against the Appellant Carrier in this matter was in October of 2011, and the date of the report of Dr. Rainwater objected to by these Appellant was in March of 2011, the lawsuit was not material to any prejudice Dr. Rainwater may have had at that time, March 2011. However, the issues giving rise the civil action between Dr. Rainwater and the Appellant Carrier in this case existed long before then. The exhibits to that Civil Action show that it includes allegations of breached contracts from 2005 forward. In light of the conflict between Dr. Rainwater and the Appellant Carrier, the Circuit Court should have reversed the Commission's allowance of the updated reports into the record as a matter of law. Dr. Rainwater's updated reports were crucial to the Respondent's award despite the Commission's finding to the contrary and the Circuit Court's characterization of such importance. The Commission indicated on this point, in finding numbered "23" and "24", that:

23. [...]Notwithstanding any dispute between Dr. Rainwater and the carrier, I find the opinions of Dr. Forsthoefel to be the most compelling of all the evidence. (See Defendants' APA #44; Claimant's APA #1, page 7).

24. Dr. Rainwater's opinion is not pivotal or necessary in this case, and I can completely disregard it and reach the same conclusion as far as physical brain damage is concerned.

This finding is simply not consistent with the record, which shows Dr. Forsthoefel actually relied on the reports and testing results of Dr. Rainwater in coming to his opinion that the Respondent's cognitive decline was purportedly related to the alleged 2002 drug-drug interaction, and not to the Respondent's own, very significant pre-existing depression, obsessive compulsive disorder, bi-polar disorder and schizoaffective disorder, or some other degenerative disorder (such as Alzheimer's) unrelated to any drug-drug interaction of the Respondent in 2002. (See Hearing Transcript at p. 28 line 24 – p. 29 line 9) (Also references to Dr. Forsthoefel's review and reliance on Dr. A. Rainwaters records at APA 1 p. 3 and APA 1 p. 7).

One of the most crucial determinations in this matter is determining if the Respondent's current condition is from his pre-existing psychological conditions or arose as an alleged result of the physical brain injury. Dr. Forshoefel points out in his testimony that the he believes the fact that it is related to a brain injury is validated "with his [Dr. Rainwater's] testing..." (Hearing Transcript at p. 30). The Appellants assert that Dr. Rainwaters testing in 2011 was used by Dr. Forsthoefel, and perhaps others, to substantiate the medical opinion that the Respondent had a permanent physical brain injury – allegedly separate and apart from – his ongoing pre-existing mental and psychological conditions. The Appellant contend it was reversible error to permit the 2011 opinions of Dr. Rainwater into the record. The conflict between Dr. Rainwater and the Appellant Carrier tainted his reports and opinion, which were relied on at least Dr. Forshoefel, who the Commission found to have provided the "most compelling of all the evidence". For these reasons, the Circuit Court should have reversed the Commission's allowance of the 2011 Report in the record as a matter of law.

Of note, these Appellants further objected to the inclusion of the Dr. Rainwater testing because Respondent refused to undergo evaluation or testing by any non-physician of the

Appellants. It would cause inherent unfairness and inequity to the Appellants to permit the Respondent to use the sword and the shield in successfully keeping out any evaluation or opinion of non-physician evaluators of the Respondent, while at the same time permitting the Respondent to put forth such evidence, where the Respondent has failed to submit to the neuropsychological testing and evaluation agreed up in the prior Consent Order in this claim. (See Generally Exhibits Tabs 36, 39 and 40 of the Defendants). This should have been an additional ground for sustaining the objection to the 2011 report of Dr. Avie Rainwater and is an additional reason why the Circuit Court should have reversed the Commission's allowance of the 2011 report in the record as a matter of law.

2) Did the Circuit Court err in failing to reverse the Commission's holding that the Respondent suffered a 'serious' and 'severe' physical brain injury thereby entitling the Respondent to life time indemnity benefits.

First and foremost, these Appellants contend that the Respondent's alleged brain injury is not one that rises to the level of severity contemplated by the General Assembly in promulgating the potential benefits of life time awards pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10 (c), and as interpreted by the South Carolina Supreme Court in the cases of *Crisp v. SouthCo. Inc.* 401 S.C. 627, 738 S.E.2d 835 (2013) and *Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood Inc.* 406 S.C. 124, 750 S.E.2d 61 (2013). “[P]hysical brain damage” as contemplated in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 requires severe and permanent physical brain damage as a result of a compensable injury.” *Id.* At 131, 64-5 (emphasis added) (upholding a finding of no basis of lifetime award based on lack of severe brain damage where the Claimant was permanently and totally disabled and had suffered a brain injury).

The Respondent's contention is that he suffered a significant and severe, and ultimately permanent, physical brain injury from his drug-drug interaction and hospitalization in February

of 2002, and he has had several psychologists and psychiatrists opine that this is the case over a decade later. The fact of the matter is, however, that after the alleged injury to the brain from the drug-drug interaction had subsided - the presumed problematic medication was removed from the Respondent's system - and the Respondent went back to his pre-incident baseline.

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