THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

DEC 20 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-001494

Theodore P. Polansky, Employee, Respondent,

v.

SC Office of the Attorney General,
Employer, and State Accident Fund, Carrier,Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211
Attorney for Respondent

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

"Q: Okay. Alright. Now let's say that Ted didn't have RSD, didn't have a spinal cord stimulator, and doesn't have the severe problems he has with his back and all of these other physical problems that he has, in your opinion based on purely his cognitive brain injury and the

cognitive deficits he has, is he employable or not employable?

A: Unemployable.

Q: So, simply based on his organic brain damage that you have testified in your opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, he is incapable of employment?

A: **Totally** incapable."

(R., p. 1318). (Emphasis added).

Under the uncontested medical and expert opinion evidence in addition to all of the other testimony and evidence submitted, the Respondent's physical brain damage alone renders him totally disabled. There is no contrary evidence to this fact in the Record. Therefore, not only does the brain damage which Mr. Polansky has meet the standard of Crisp and Sparks, which is that his brain damage must be severe enough that in and of itself it would constitute a "hindrance or obstacle to employment" (that is the Crisp and Sparks standard and that is the wording and standard that the Supreme Court has stated is to be applied), in this case, not only is that standard met, but more importantly, the uncontested expert medical opinion evidence and all the evidence in the Record establishes that he is totally incapable of employment and is not even sufficiently competent enough to testify due purely and strictly to his brain damage. There is substantial evidence to support the

Commission's Finding and it must be affirmed. The issue is without merit.

III. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS HAD NOTICE OF PHYSICAL BRAIN, "INJURY" AND DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO APPLY THE EQUITABLE DOCTRINE OF LACHES TO THE RESPONDENT'S REQUEST FOR LIFETIME COMPENSATION BENEFITS FOR, "PERMANENT" PHYSICAL BRAIN "DAMAGE".

While the Appellants couple two arguments together in the caption of this argument, they in fact are arguing one argument which is laches. While the Respondent is of the opinion that laches does not apply and should not be applied to either party, if it were to be applied, it should be applied to the Appellants. Further, the Appellants are being disingenuous in making this argument by failing to note that the only issue left open after the mediation and in the Mediation Agreement was whether or not the Respondent had sustained compensable physical brain damage entitling him to lifetime compensation. Thus, by making this argument, they are diverting this Court's attention away from the fact that the defense of laches was not preserved. As a side note, not only does the doctrine of laches not apply in this situation, but the statute of limitations would not even apply to this situation involving an undiagnosed condition, "physical brain damage", where a brain injury (2002 encephalopathy), had been accepted and paid for medically. See: Mauldin v. Dyna-Color/Jack Rabbit, 308 S.C. 18, 416 S.E.2d 639 (1992) (involving an accepted knee injury and almost three (3)

years later Respondent was found to have a previously undiagnosed condition in the knee and the Court held that the statutory limitation for filing a claim ran from that point when the condition was found and diagnosed). In this claim, all medical care was paid for by the Appellants for both: 1) the 2002 hospitalization for a brain "injury"; and 2) all care and evaluation thereafter for the brain "injury". However, the Respondent was not definitively diagnosed with physical, "brain damage" until May 5th, 2011 and on May 16th, he filed a claim for permanent brain damage.

As to the first argument and the element of notice, both parties had the same notice from 2002 to 2011 concerning the Respondent's, "injury," to his brain. There is no question that in 2002 Mr. Polansky sustained a physical brain, "injury" in the form of an encephalopathy. In addition to the treatment records and the rehab nurse's notes which were being provided to the State Accident Fund, from 2002 before and after the hospitalization for the brain injury and through 2004, in 2004 and 2005 Dr. Forsthoefel (psychiatrist) and three (3) other doctors found that Mr. Polansky needed neurological evaluation and testing for:, "organic mental condition"; Dr. Ezra Riber, "comprehensive neurological evaluation" (APPXR., p. 289); Dr. Marturano (psychiatrist) on September 19, 2005, "complete neurological workup by a neurologist . . . neurological

evaluation should include EEG testing . . . also recommend neuropsychological testing of Mr. Polansky" (APPXR., p. 669); and Dr. Julian Adams, "if the memory loss is a major contributing factor in your investigation of his problem that he have psychological testing". In addition, there were numerous communications in 2004 and 2005 (APPXR., pp. 700-713) to the adjuster both from the Respondent and from, and with the concurrence of, the assigned State Fund rehab nurses requesting authorization for neuropsychological testing. That testing was delayed by the Appellants, not the Respondent, and was finally and only authorized and performed in late 2007 and was concluded in 2008; but again, those tests were delayed and then authorized by the Appellants. (APPXR., p. 714). Then in 2009, the Respondent contacted the Appellants stating the belief, and again the belief, that he had sustained, "permanent" physical brain injury as a result of the original brain "injury" in 2002 and that he was entitled to lifetime compensation. Therefore, both parties were on notice and had the same notice throughout this entire time of a brain, "injury," for which the Appellants were providing treatment and evaluation for that original physical brain "injury" with both parties trying to determine whether or not there was a physical brain problem, as compared to a psychological or functional problem causing the Respondent's problems.

Again, the Appellants delayed providing neurological tests from 2004 to 2008, not the Respondent. Then in 2008 when they authorized testing they did not even send the medical records and Dr. Lind, Ph.D. stated in his 2012 report that at that time had he had those that he would have found that the Respondent was suffering from physical brain damage, which he did opine in 2012 after being provided the records of the 2002 brain injury (hospitalization for encephalopathy). (APPXR., pp. 37-38).

Therefore, there is no question that the Appellants were on notice of a physical brain "injury" and the question for determination thereafter from 2002 until 2011 was whether there had been some permanent consequence (brain damage) from that physical brain injury in 2002. Thus, the Appellants had notice.

As to the defense of laches and the element of delay, it simply does not apply because there was no delay in filing a claim for physical brain damage. There was not a definitive diagnosis of permanent brain damage until May 5, 2011 based on a medical opinion [the Respondent would hope that the Appellants would agree that this is a medically complex issue requiring expert opinion evidence as the Commission found], and the Respondent filed his claim eleven (11) days after that diagnosis on May 16, 2011; there was no delay.

However, if one applies the doctrine of laches to this claim, the Court, as the Commission did, should apply that

doctrine to the actions of the Appellants. Appellants love to cite to the case of Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc., supra, and while Respondent will set out hereinafter a later case which applied laches to the Defendants (employer/insurance carrier) in a less egregious case than this one as far as the provision of medical care and then a subsequent denial of benefits, let's apply the doctrine of laches as set out in the Muir case to this case.

Under the doctrine of laches, if a party knowing his rights, does not timely assert them and by an unreasonable delay causes his adversary to incur expenses or otherwise detrimentally change his position then equity will normally

~~refuse to enforce those rights. That equitable principle applies to the rights of both sides; claims and defenses. (Emp. add.).~~

In Muir, the Court specifically noted that delay alone (if that existed at all in this case) does not establish laches and that so long as there is no knowledge of the wrong committed and no refusal to embrace the opportunity to assert facts, there can be no laches. The Court specifically noted that the failure to assert a right does not come into existence until there is a reason or situation that demands assertion. The party asserting laches must satisfactorily show negligence, the opportunity to have acted sooner, and also material prejudice. Not only are all of these elements not found in this case, but none of them are.

Both parties knew the Respondent had sustained physical brain, "injury" but neither until the opinion of Dr. Forsthoefel knew that he had sustained, in the opinion of a doctor, permanent physical, "brain damage". Both parties were investigating this; both parties were trying to find out if there was any damage from a physical standpoint, and if there was any delay in that process, it was from the Appellants not the Respondent. The Appellants were responsible to provide medical care and evaluation which was requested repeatedly all those years. Once Respondent knew of his right, or in other words, that he had permanent physical brain damage as definitively determined by his treating physician, eleven (11) days later he filed a claim for benefits. There has been no detrimental change in the Appellants' position, nor have the Appellants incurred any expenses as a result of any alleged delay. There was no refusal to embrace the opportunity to ascertain the facts as the Respondent, repeatedly from 2004 through 2011, was requesting evaluations concerning physical brain damage and also was receiving treatment specifically related to physical brain injury. Therefore, he was trying to, "ascertain the facts" throughout this entire time.

Again, laches does not even attach until there is a reason to assert a claim. There was no reason to assert a claim until

there was a definitive diagnosis that the Respondent had sustained permanent physical brain damage.

Further, there is absolutely no material prejudice.

Appellants have known about the physical brain injury ever since 2002; have provided treatment and evaluation; have seen the same medical reports that the Respondent has seen; and have never questioned nor not paid for anything in reference to the Respondent's physical brain injury or requests concerning the cognitive dysfunctions that he is having. The Appellants since 2002; and specifically after 2009 when the Respondent placed them on notice that he thought he had sustained a permanent physical brain injury entitling him to lifetime benefits, never questioned the injury prior to the filing of the Form 50. Even in the Form 51 filed in 2011 the defense of laches was not raised and it was not raised until approximately a year later in the second Form 51 filed. Therefore, the Appellants in no way have been materially prejudiced. Further, this element is not even reached in reference to the laches doctrine if there is a failure as to any of the other elements that apply prior to that determination applying. As the Court said in Muir, you only reach the material prejudice element once you have reached and established all the other elements, which have not been established by the Appellants through the evidence and which do not apply in this case.

Further, the Appellants fail to note their responsibility and never cite to the case of Jervey v. Martinet Environmental, Inc., 396 S.C. 442, 721 S.E.2d 469 (SC App. 2013). In that case the Supreme Court at 406 S.C. 210, 750 S.E.2nd 90 (2013) affirming this Court found the doctrine of laches applied to the defendants and that it was dispositive. In that case, the defendants paid benefits for 450 days before raising an issue/defense of compensability. In this case, **the Appellants paid benefits for physical brain injury from 2002 until 2009.**

The reason the Respondent says 2009 is because in 2009 the Respondent specifically placed the Appellants on notice that based on the physical brain injury in 2002 and the evidence available at that time that he felt he was entitled to an award for permanent brain damage and wanted to know whether or not the Appellants would accept that without him having to prove that and litigate that issue. Thereafter, the Appellants continued to pay for all medical care in reference to the Respondent's physical brain injury and never questioned that issue until the Respondent filed a formal claim after receiving the opinion of the authorized treating psychiatrist in 2011. The Appellants therefore should be equitably estopped from asserting the doctrine of laches but should it be applied, as the Commission did, it should be applied to them in this case.

Applying the elements of laches to the Appellants, the Appellants, no later than 2009, were advised of the Respondent's claim for physical brain damage. At that point they had a, "known right" to assert the defense denying that claim and they "unreasonably delayed" in asserting that defense for over three (3) years. Their adversary, the Claimant in this matter, had to "incur additional expenses" and "detrimentally changed" his position due to that failure to notify him that they were in fact denying the claim. In addition, from 2004 until 2008 and really 2012, even though the authorized treating physicians were all requesting neuropsychological testing, the Appellants further caused the Respondent to expend money and detrimentally change his position by failing to provide the neuropsychological testing that was necessary and then when they did they did not provide the medical records so that the neuropsychologist, Dr. Nicholas Lind, Ph.D., could make a determination based on those tests. This further delayed the determination which Dr. Nicholas Lind stated he would have made at that time in 2008 had he been provided the medical records and particularly the medical records of the 2002 brain injury, encephalopathy. The Appellants thus failed to, "embrace the opportunity to ascertain facts" and there is no question that the Respondent was materially prejudiced by the Appellants failure to assert their defense. Therefore, if you apply the equitable doctrine of

laches to this situation, there is no question that the Commission could very well have found that the doctrine of laches should be applied to the Appellants in this case.

On a final note, the Respondent finds it quite humorous in reading Appellants' Brief (and other Briefs) that the Appellants never seem to know about nor do they refer to the other equitable doctrines that apply to any individual seeking equity. Those are: "one who seeks equity must do equity" and if one seeks equity, one must come into Court with, "clean hands". Under those equitable principles which must be applied along with the equitable defense of laches, how in the world can the State Accident Fund come into Court and claim that it has, "done equity" knowing that: 1) the authorized treating physicians for years were requesting evaluation from neurologists and neurological testing; 2) they failed to provide those; 3) they failed to provide the records to the doctor who was finally authorized to perform those tests; 4) by then asserting that defense against the Respondent while paying for all of that treatment and evaluation; 5) by asking for the Respondent's help in obtaining Second Injury Fund assistance; and 6) then by coming into Court and claiming that the Respondent is barred? Fundamental principle of equity: One who seeks equity must do equity.

Next, how can the State Accident Fund even think that they can assert "clean hands" when they have caused all the delay in evaluation and at the same time provided all the years of care; never questioned the claim, and specifically after 2009; and then when the very doctors and medical providers that they have authorized to provide care for over ten (10) years state the opinion that this man is suffering from physical brain damage that is severe, outrageously severe, to the point that he cannot even write a check, have the audacity to come into Court and assert that their hands are clean in any respect? The argument is patently without merit.

ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND I:

IV. THE DEFENDANTS' /APPELLANTS' REQUEST FOR REVIEW (COMMONLY CALLED AN "APPEAL") OF THE AWARD MADE BY THE HEARING COMMISSIONER TO THE COMMISSION FOR REVIEW WAS NOT TIMELY FILED UNDER SC CODE §42-17-50 AND THE SUPREME COURT DECISION IN ALLISON V. W.L. GORE AND ASSOCIATES, 394 S.C. 185, 714 S.E.2D 547 (2011), WHICH IS JURISDICTIONAL AND THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

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